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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

-- e X -
TWIN LANE INC., f . *:7531 ‘ S
Plaintiff, Case No. —:j \’:‘-‘
v. . COMPLAINT "f‘f_ ;
BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, BANK i d:c}'-. :3'*
OF AMERICA CORPORATION and STEPHEN :
PELLERITI, :
Defendants.
- x
INTRODUCTION
1. Plaintiff Twin Lane Inc. (“Twin”) sought and relied on defendants’ advice
regarding purchasing short term money market type investments that would provide
complete liquidity with little market risk.
2. Defendants recommended that Plaintiff purchase auction rate securities
(“ARSs”).
3. To induce Plaintiff to purchase ARSs, defendants misrepresented that they

were equivalent to cash or money market funds and were highly liquid, safe short-term

nvestments.
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4. Defendants knew, yet failed to disclose the following:

e ARSs were not suitable alternatives to investments such as
money market funds and were not safe, liquid, short-term
cash equivalents that were virtually risk-free;

e ARS’s continuing liquidity was very uncertain, even at the
time of sale of the specific securities at issue, because they
depended substantially, if not completely, on Defendants’
artificially supporting the ARS market to maintain the
appearance of liquidity and stability. ARSs were only
liquid (easily bought and sold with minimal value loss) as
long as the market thrived;

e There was no real market for ARSs without Defendants’
and other broker-dealers’ constant and pervasive support
and propping up of these auctions by serving as buyers of
last resort for these securities to maintain the appearance of
liquidity and stability and to prevent failed auctions at
which the securities cannot be sold;

s At the time they were inducing Plaintiff to purchase ARSs,
Defendants knew they were going to withdraw their
support for the periodic auctions, which would cause a
complete market failure such that the securities could not
be sold; and

e These securities would and did become illiquid as soon as
Defendants withdrew their routine and pervasive support
for the ARS market when they completely stopped
purchasing the securities at auction.
5. Indeed, on February 13, 2008, almost 90% of alt ARS auctions failed
because defendants and all other major broker-dealers suddenly ceased all support, for
these auctions and the ARS market. As a result of such withdrawal of support the ARS

market collapsed, leaving Plaintiff with no means of liquidating the securities which had

been pitched as safe, highly liquid cash equivalents.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337, and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa).
The claims asserted herein arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act (15
U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78t(a)), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the Securities
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) (17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5).

7. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange
Act and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1337. Defendants do substantial business in this
District and the parties’ agreement provides for venue in this District.

8. In connection with the acts alleged in this Complaint, defendants, directly
or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but
not limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications and the facilities of the

national securities markets.

PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Twin is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of
business at 19 Stoney Brook Drive, Wilton, New Hampshire,

10.  Plaintiff purchased ARSs that were marketed, sold and/or underwritten by
Defendants Banc of America Securites, LLC (“BAS”) and Bank of America Corporation
(“BAC™).

11.  Defendant BAS is incorporated in Delaware and its principal executive
offices are located in Charlotte, North Carolina. BAS is one of the world’s leading

financial services firms and conducts substantial business within this District.
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12. BAS is registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer pursuant to Section
15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and is a member of
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority (“FINRA”). BAS is a wholly owned subsidiary of BAC and conducts
substantial business within this District.

13.  Defendant BAC is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Charlotte,
North Carolina. BAC is a bank holding company and a financial holding company
registered under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and conducts substantial business within
this District. Through its subsidiaries, BAC provides a diverse range of banking and
nonbanking financial services and products throughout the United States.

14.  As set forth in Plaintiff’s account agreement, BAC protects the net equity
of BAS’s client accounts in the event of the broker-dealer’s insolvency pursuant to a
guarantee to BAS from BAC.

15.  Unless specifically noted, “Bank of America” refers collectively to
defendants BAS and BAC.

16.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Stephen Pelleriti is a broker

employed by Bank of America.

Background

17.  Inor about August of 2007, Twin was recapitalized and restructured into a
new entity called QA Master Holdings. Plaintiff contributed all of its assets to QA
Master Holdings and became a shareholder in that new entity. The recapitalization

generated significant cash distributions to Plaintiff.
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18.  Plaintiff sought a short term investment for such cash, a subtantial portion
of which it would soon need to pay its tax obligations created by the restructuring.
Plaintiff also desired a short term investment while it determined a longer term
investment strategy for such funds.

19.  In September of 2007, Twin’s broker at Bank of America, Stephen
Pelleriti (“Pelleriti”), advised Thomas Schulhof (“Schuihof”) and Hilary Jandl (“JandI”),
Twin’s Chairman and Chief Financial Officer respectively, to invest the monies in ARS
student loan bond funds which were backed by the Department of Education.

20.  Schulhof and Jandl informed Pelleriti that they wanted an investment
which would be completely liquid and safe and he advised both of them that ARSs were
very safe short term investments.

21.  Pelleniti induced Plaintiff to invest in ARSs which would earn interest at a
higher rate than money markets, certificates of deposits, or other equally safe securities
and were triple A rated and therefore a safe investment.

22.  Pelleriti stressed that ARS student loan based funds were no risk short-
term investments whose interest rates were re-set either weekly or monthly. Although
Pelleriti did not explain the intricacies of the auction process, he maintained that there
was always a market for such securities.

23.  Pelleriti also told Schulof and Jandl that there has never been a default or
auction failure in the student loan ARS market.

24, Pelleriti compared the ARSs to money markets in the sense that they were

just as liquid and were a very safe investment.
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25.  Pelleriti’s representations regarding the safety and liquidity of ARSs
induced Plaintiff to purchase such securities.

26. In reliance on Pelleriti’s advice, Twin purchased $30,400,000 of various
ARSs between September and December of 2007, which it continues to own.

27.  Inpurchasing the ARSs, Plaintiff relied on the following representations:

e ARSs were AAA rated and therefore safe investments;

» ARSs were liquid and could be easily sold when they needed cash;

e There was always a market for these securities; and

e ARSs were similar to money market funds, and other cash
equivalents.

28.  Plaintiff never received any prospectus or other written information about
ARSs from Pelleriti or Defendants.

29.  Due to the collapse of the ARS market in February 2008, Plaintiff is
unable to liquidate the remaining ARSs it purchased at Defendants’ recommendation,
whose interest rates have been reset at low penalty rates. Twin needs access to its funds
in order to pay the taxes owed to the Internal Revenue Service and will now have to
liquidate other assets for that purpose.

The ARS Market

30.  The term “auction rate security” refers to either municipal or corporate

debt securities or preferred stocks which pay interest at rates that are re-set at periodic
“auctions.” The auctions occur every 7, 14, 28 or 35 days and interest is paid at the end
of the auction period. ARSs typically priced and traded as short-term securities and thus,

could be sold at these periodic auctions.
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31.  ARSs generally have long-term maturities, typically 30 years, and in the
case of preferred stocks, no maturity date.

32.  ARSs were auctioned at par value, so the return on the investment to the
investor and the cost of financing to the issuer were determined by the interest rate or
dividend yield set through the auction.

33.  The auction itself was commonly referred to as a “Dutch” auction, in
which sequentially increasing bids are accepted until all of the securities at auction are
sold. Initial rates are reportedly set low, and then increased to be more attractive to
purchasers throughout the course of the auction.

34.  The final rate at which the securities are sold at an auction is called the
“clearing rate” and applies to all of the securities in the auction until the next auction.
The clearing rate was determined by finding the lowest rate bid which was sufficient to
cover all of the securities for sale in the auction. If several bidders had bids at the
clearing rate, and there were more bids than shares, the shares were divided pro-rata
between the clearing rate bidders. The auction agent, at the end of the auction, allocated
the shares per the formula. If all of the current holders decided to hold their securities,
then the auction was an “all-hold” auction and the rate was set at a penalty rate, which
was generally lower than the market rate.

35.  If there are not enough orders to purchase all the shares being sold at the
auction, the auction failed. The rate was then set to a relatively low penalty rate which

was a multiplier of a short-term benchmark such as the London Interbank Offered Rate.
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Bank of America Materially Misrepresented the
Nature and Risks Associated with ARS Investments

36.  ARSs were extremely profitable for Bank of America and the brokers who
sold them. As a large underwriter of ARSs, Bank of America received significant
underwriting fees from the issuers of these securities. As one of the largest broker-
dealers, Bank of America also entered into broker-dealer agreements with the issuers and
was paid an annualized broker-dealer fee for operating the auction process. Bank of
America also acted as a principal for its own account and bought and sold ARSs.

37. Defendants concealed the true nature of the ARS market, as described
herein, because it had a strong financial interest in promoting the sale of ARSs.

38.  Bank of America and Pelleriti failed to disclose to Plaintiff material facts
about these securities. Pelleriti did not inform Twin that these securities were not cash
alternatives, like money market funds, and were instead, complex, long-term financial
instruments with 30 year maturity dates, or no maturity dates. Indeed, Plaintiff
specifically told Pelleriti that it wanted and needed easy access to its funds.

39.  Bank of America and Pelleriti failed to disclose that the ARSs they
induced Plaintiff to buy were only liquid because Bank of America and other broker-
dealers in the auction market were artificially supporting and manipulating the market by
acting as bidders of last resort and buying ARSs to avoid failed auctions. In fact,
Plaintiff’s ability to liquidate its holdings depended on the maintenance of an artificial
auction market by BAS and the other broker-dealers.

40.  Bank of America and Pelleriti knew, at the time they were selling ARSs to
Plaintiff, yet failed to disclose to Plaintiff, that BAS and/or BAC might no longer

participate in auctions and purchase ARSs which would and did cause the ARS market to
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collapse. Had Plaintiff known there was a substantial risk that it would not be able to seli
its securities, it never would have purchased them.

41.  Upon information and belief, Bank of America and Pelleriti knew, at the
time they were inducing Plaintiff to purchase ARSs, that they might not support the
auction market and that when Bank of America pulled its support, the ARS market would
collapse.

42.  In February of 2008, when Bank of America and the other broker-dealers
stopped artificially supporting and manipulating the auction market, the market
immediately collapsed and Plaintiff has been unable to sell its ARSs.

43, Bank of America and Pelleriti knew of the risk of Plaintiff’s investment,
or should have known before it was too late to take action. Yet, they did nothing to help
Plaintiff sell its securities and encouraged it to buy more.

44.  Bank of America also failed to disclose material facts about its role in the
auctions and the auction market in which these securities were traded, i.e., that Bank of
America acted simultaneously on behalf of the issuer, who had an interest in paying the
lowest possible interest rate, on behalf of Planitiff, who was seeking the highest possible
return, and on its own behalf, to maximize the return to Bank of America on its holdings
of ARSs. Bank of America failed to disclose that it and other broker-dealers routinely
intervened in auctions for their own benefit, to set rates and prevent all-hold auctions and
failed auctions.

45, Indeed, Bank of America failed to inform Plaintiff that without this

manipulation of the auction market, many auctions likely would fail. Thus, Plaintiff had
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no ability to determine the true risk and liquidity features of ARSs and relied on the
misrepresenations made by Bank of America.

46.  Plaintiff would not have purchased the ARSs if it knew the following:

o The auctions, at which it could sell such securities, could fail if
there were not enough purchasers;

e In the past, Bank of America prevented auctions from failing by
buying ARSs if there were not enough buyers. In the event Bank
of America did not bid at the auctions, however, they would fail.
Thus, Bank of America controlled the liquidity of the ARS market;

o In the event of a failed auction, Plaintiff would be unable to
liquidate its investment;

e Bank of America planned on withdrawing its support for the ARS
market and knew it would no longer purchase ARSs which might
cause the complete failure of the auctions and the market to
collapse; and

¢ ARSs were not cash alternatives, like money market funds, but
were long term investments subject to extreme liquidity risk.

The Collapse of the ARS Market

47.  Inthe summer of 2007, some ARS auctions backed by sub-prime debt
began to fail, representing a small percentage of the entire market. In late 2007, more
auctions began to fail. Bank of America was well aware of such failed auctions, yet did
not disclose that fact or even such possibility to Plaintiff. Bank of America and Pelleriti,
knew, but also did not disclose to Plaintiff, the consequences of a failed auction - - that it
would be unable to sell its securities and its investment would be illiquid.

48.  Even though some of the auctions that failed initially were conducted by

Bank of America, it encouraged Plaintiff to purchase ARSs and represented that they

10
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were the same as cash or money markets and were highly liquid, safe investments for
short-term investing, without any disclosure of any risks.

49. On February 13, 2008, 87% of all ARS auctions failed when all of the
major broker-dealers, including Bank of America, refused to continue to support the
auctions.

50. On February 14, 2008, it was disclosed that UBS, the second largest
underwriter of auction rate securities, had decided to no longer support the auction
market. Virtually every other major broker-dealer, including Goldman Sachs, Lehman
Brothers, Citigroup and Bank of America, among others, also decided to withdraw their
support of the auction market. As a result, the ARS market collapsed, rendering
Plaintiff’s investment in the securities illiquid.

51. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions
particularized herein directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing
cause of the damages sustained by Plaintiff. As described herein, Bank of America and
Pelleriti made a series of materially false or misleading statements about securities and
the ARS market. Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements caused Plaintiff
to purchase and continue to hold the ARSs, when it otherwise would not have bought
them in the first place or would have liquidated such investment upon learning of the true

and precarious nature of the market.

Plaintiff Suffered Economic L.oss

52.  Bank of America engaged in a scheme and course of conduct to induce
Plaintiff to purchase ARSs by misrepresenting the liquidity of, and risks associated with,

such an investment. In complete disregard for Plaintiff’s investment criteria, Defendanis

11
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made false and misleading statements about the nature of the securities by assuring
Plaintiff that ARSs were safe, liquid, risk-free investments similar to cash equivalents
such as money market funds.

53.  As soon as Defendants stopped supporting the ARS market, it collapsed
and Plaintifs ARSs became illiquid. As a result of its purchases of ARSs from Bank of
America, Plaintiff has suffered economic loss, i.e., damages under the federal securities
laws in that the securities have substantially less value than that represented by

defendants and are now 1lliquid.

COUNT 1

Violation Of Section 10(b) Of The
Exchange Act Against All Defendants

54.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth above as
if fully set forth herein.

55.  Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of conduct which was
intended to and did deceive Plaintiff and cause it to purchase ARSs when it otherwise
would not have invested in such securities. In furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan
and course of conduct, defendants, jointly and individually (and each of them) took the
actions set forth herein.

56. Defendants (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b}
made untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading; and (¢) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which
operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiff in violation of Section 10(b) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated

12
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thereunder. Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the wrongful and illegal
conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.

57.  Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use,
means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and
participated in a continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information
about the ARSs it sold.

58.  Defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud and
engaged in acts, practices, and a course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure
Plaintiff that the ARSs it sold were the same as cash and were highly liquid, safe short-
term investment vehicles suitable for its objectives.

59.  Defendants knew their representations to Plaintiff were false when made
and acted with deliberate disregard for the truth in failing to disclose the true nature of
ARSs and the precariousness of the auction market. Such material misrepresentations
and/or omissions were done knowingly or deliberately and for the purpose and effect of
concealing the truth about the liquidity of and risks associated with ARSs and supporting
the market for these securities.

60.  Plaintiff relied on Defendants’ false and misleading statements and
purchased over $30 million worth of ARSs.

61. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiff was
ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiff known the truth
regarding the illiquidity of and risks associated with ARSs, which were not disclosed, it
would not have purchased ARSs in the first place and would not have continued to hold

such securities.

13

195968.2




62. By virtue of the foregoing, defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.
63.  As adirect and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff

has been damaged.

COUNT 11

Violation Of Section 20(a) Of The
Exchange Act Against Defendant
Bank of America Corporation

64.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth above as
if fully set forth herein.

65.  BAC acted as a control person of BAS within the meaning of Section
20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of its 100% ownership of BAS,
BAC had the power to influence and control and did influence and control, directly or
indirectly, the decision-making by BAC including the content and dissemination of the
various statements which Plaintiff contends are false and misleading. BAC was provided
with or had unlimited access to copies of the reports, press releases, public filings and
other statements alleged to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements
were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the
statements to be corrected.

66. As set forth above, BAS violated Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by its acts
and omissions as alleged in this complaint. By virtue of its position as a controlling
person, BAC is liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

67.  As adirect and proximate result of defendants” wrongful conduct, Plaintiff
suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

14
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COUNT III
Fraud Against All Defendants

68.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth above as
if fully set forth herein.

69. As set forth herein, Defendants made numerous material
misrepresentations to Plaintiff with knowledge of their falsity, and/or knowinginly and
intentionally omitted to inform Plaintiff of material information with the intention of

inducing Plaintiff to rely thereon.

70.  Plaintiff reasonably relied upon Defendants’ misrepresenations and
purchased ARSs.
71.  As adirect and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff

suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT IV
Negligent Misrepresntation Against All Defendants

72.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth above as
if fully set forth herein.

73.  Defendants affirmatively misrepresented that the ARSs it sold were both
safe and liquid.

74.  Defendants never warned Plaintiff that the securities were subject to
extreme liquidity risk. They also never explained that the reason ARS auctions had not
failed in the past was because they invested their own capital in order to prevent failed

auctions.

15
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75.  Defendants never revealed that they could control the liquidity of the ARS
investments.

76.  Defendants had a duty to recommend investments that were consistent
with Plaintiff’s investment objectives, which they knew to be safe, liquid and short term.
Yet, Defendants recommended and sold ARSs to Plaintiff that subjected its assets to

illiquidity and potential loss.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

A. Awarding Plaintiff compensatory damages in an amount to be determined
at trial, including interest thereon;

B. In the alternative, rescinding the transactions complained of in Counts I
and II herein and entering judgment for Plaintiff in the amount of the consideration paid
for the ARSs currently owned by Plaintiff, together with prejudgment interest;

C. Awarding Plaintiff punitive damages with respect to Count III;

D. Awarding Plaintiff its reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this
action, including attorneys’ fees, expert fees and other costs and disbursements; and

E. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
Dated: New York, New York Respectfully submitted,

October 21, 2008
GRAUBARD MILLER

By: C/«i//%/v;-/

Edward H. Pomeranz (EP:8936)
The Chrysler Building

405 Lexington Avenue, 19" Floor
New York, NY 10174

(212) 818-8800

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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